
Meeting Date:  May 5, 2008  1 of 11 

SELINSGROVE BOROUGH COUNCIL MEETING 
 

MONDAY, MAY 5, 2008 - 7:00 P.M. 
 
 
COUNCIL MEMBERS PRESENT:  Pres. C. Handlan, V. Pres. J. Herb, C/P S. Hendricks, C/P M. Inch, 
C/P D. Mengel, and C/P E. Viker 
 
COUNCIL MEMBERS ABSENT:  C/P D. Anderson 
 
OTHERS PRESENT:  Solicitor R. Cravitz; Mgr. J. Bickhart; Mayor P. Carroll; Police Chief T. Garlock; 
Borough Treasurer Sheri Badman; Recording Secretary Dawne Long; DH&L Representative Ken Stettler; 
Daily Item Reporter Amanda Keister; Borough Residents Tony Butto, Matthew Cover, Becky and Lonnie 
Groce, Joseph and Margaret Siro, Pamela White; Parks and Recreation Chairman Richard Norman; 
Regarding SU Ordinance 765 – John Carpenter; Sara Bartlett 
 
OTHERS ABSENT:   Junior C/P Morgan Botdorf 
 
CALL MEETING TO ORDER: 
 
Pres. Handlan called the meeting to order at 7:03 P.M.  Mgr. Bickhart called the roll. 
 
REVIEW AND APPROVAL OF COUNCIL MINUTES FROM MEETING OF APRIL 7, 2008: 
 
Motion by C/P Hendricks to approve the minutes as presented.  Seconded by C/P Inch. 
 

AYES:  SEVEN (7) NAYS:  NONE  MOTION CARRIED 
 

PERSONS TO BE HEARD: 
 
Borough Police Chief, Thomas Garlock: 
 
Presentation of Police Report for March 2008 – Chief Garlock reported there were 35 serious crimes 
and 56 Part 2 crimes during the month of March.  There were four rapes reported, which included one 
attempted rape and three actual sexual assaults.  There is an explanation in the comments section of the 
report.  The attempted rape is still under investigation and the sexual assaults were domestic related and 
are also under investigation.  The amount of property stolen is lower than in other recent months.  There 
were 389 calls for service this March as compared to 324 calls for service in March 2007. 
 
Quarterly Police Report – Chief Garlock reported the serious crimes for 2007 are running 4% less than 
in 2007, and other crimes are down 17%.  The calls for services in 2008 are higher than in 2007. 
 
New Police Officer Update – Chief Garlock reported four of the six applicants showed up for the written 
test a week ago Sunday.  The scoring will hopefully be done tomorrow.  All the applicants passed the 
physical fitness exam.  The oral interview board will be the next step in the hiring process.  The reports 
will then be given to the Civil Service Commission so they can verify the list and send a recommendation 
to Council.  Chief Garlock hopes to have someone hired by June 1. 
 
Tony Butto – Request consideration of “Proposal to Enhance Safety and Reduce Risk for 
Selinsgrove Residents and Visitors” – Tony Butto distributed a report, noting that on Page 3 there is a 
typo.  The second paragraph should read “west on Bough Street”, not “east” as it is currently written.  
Tony noted that South Front Street is only 24 feet wide and other two-way streets with parking in the 
Borough are 30 feet wide.  Tony is requesting a change in the traffic pattern for vehicles heading north 
along South Front Street in the two-block area just before Pine Street.  In this area, many of the 
homeowners do not have off-street parking.  He noted that south of this area the homes have long 
driveways and off-street parking, allowing for two vehicles to pass with no problems.  Tony pointed out his 



Meeting Date:  May 5, 2008  2 of 11 

references and photographs, noting several safety issues regarding cars and pedestrians, who walk in 
the street on the river side rather than on the sidewalk provided on the west side of the street.  Tony is 
proposing that the two blocks of South Front Street be designated as southbound only.  Returning 
northbound traffic could turn west at Bough Street, with the direction of a removable barrier of some type, 
and then proceed to a north turn on Third Street.  He noted that this intersection is wide enough for a 
tractor-trailer to make the turn.  Tony realizes that this will increase traffic one way on Bough and Third 
Streets while decreasing traffic on two blocks of South Front Street.  Tony stated that he measured to see 
if a sidewalk could be added along the river side of South Front Street and he found that it is not wide 
enough.  In order to install a sidewalk the bank would have to be shored up or built out toward the river, 
and many trees would have to be removed.  Tony also proposed a southbound stop sign at South Front 
and Bough Streets to allow northbound traffic to turn west onto Bough and also to slow traffic down.  Tony 
questioned whether the large trucks Furman uses are an approved size for the street and stated it would 
be easier for them to follow his proposed route.  Mayor Carroll suggested designating no parking along 
the two blocks of South Front Street, but then stated he realizes this would be an issue for those 
residents without off-street parking.  C/P Herb stated this also would limit parking for people who drive to 
the Isle of Que to enjoy the area.  Mayor Carroll wondered if there were many reports of side mirrors 
being clipped on parked cars as two vehicles try to pass along the street.  Tony replied that vehicles will 
often ride up on residents’ lawns in order to get through.  Pres. Handlan thanked Tony for the research he 
did in evaluating this situation and bringing it before Council.  She recommended that the Public Safety 
Committee take a look at this.  However, she has issues with people walking in the street.  She stated it is 
a destination area and safety and attraction need to be addressed.  Tony stated that because people 
don’t follow the rules and use the sidewalks, other rules have to be made to protect the pedestrians.  It 
was noted that there is a paving project coming up in this area so any suggestions can be incorporated 
into that project, such as a painted line on the street for a pedestrian area.  C/P Viker stated it is important 
for the Public Safety Committee to speak with the residents of Bough and Third Streets to get their input 
on this proposal, as it will impact them also.  Tony stated he does not think those residents will like this 
plan because their traffic will increase.  However, he asked Council to put their objections against the 
possibility of a child being killed because someone doesn’t like more traffic in an area that could handle 
more traffic.  C/P Viker stated the Committee needs to do a thorough examination of the situation.  He 
stated it is a beautiful area and people should be comfortable in using it.  However, his concern as a 
Councilperson is that if someone does not obey the rules, making more rules is not always the best 
solution.  He stated it is frustrating to make rules because people refuse to use the sidewalks that have 
been provided at considerable homeowner expense.  Pres. Handlan asked Tony if he will be available to 
answer questions that the Committee may have, and he replied that he will be. 
 
Matthew Cover – Request consideration of forming a Neighborhood Watch – Matt reminded Council 
that last year he had addressed them concerning starting a Crime Watch in Selinsgrove.  He noted that 
during the past month or so more serious crimes have occurred in his neighborhood.  He realizes the 
police are doing what they can, but the citizens, with the proper training, could be on the lookout for signs 
that a crime is being committed and call the authorities to take action.  Matt referred to the recent 
incidents at Domino’s and Troutman’s, stating these incidents could have been more serious.  He stated 
while a Crime Watch would not deter all crime, it would deter some of it.  Pres. Handlan asked Matt how 
he sees himself being involved in a Crime Watch.  Matt replied that because of his work schedule he may 
not have many hours to contribute to the program.  However, he has watched over his neighbor’s house 
while he was away because something had been stolen from the neighbor’s garage in the past.  He has 
approached people who seem like they are somewhere they should not be.  Matt stated he might be able 
to be a block captain, and he would like to help out in his spare time.  Pres. Handlan asked if Matt has 
spoken with friends or neighbors about this.  Matt stated his neighbors are in favor of the program.  Some 
of Matt’s friends are also in favor of the program, as are some of his coworkers at Weis Markets.  
Pres. Handlan stated that Crime Watch has to be very well organized and has to work in concert with the 
police department so that it is a positive in the community and not a negative.  She asked the Public 
Safety Committee to look into this further.  Matt gave his telephone number as 374-0570, stating he is 
available for questions.  If he is not home a message can be left on his machine.  He thanked Council for 
hearing his concerns. 
 



Meeting Date:  May 5, 2008  3 of 11 

Consider adoption of Ordinance # 765 related to the Rezoning of land of Susquehanna University 
from R-1 and R-3 to RSP – Solicitor Cravitz reported there was public comment on this ordinance at the 
last meeting, it has been advertised again, and there have been no negative comments from the County 
or the Borough’s Planning Commission.  He noted that everything has been advertised and posted, and 
no one has come forward with any adverse comments regarding the zoning change. 
 
Motion by C/P Mengel to adopt Ordinance 765.  Seconded by C/P Hendricks. 
 

AYES:  SEVEN (7) NAYS:  NONE  MOTION CARRIED 
 
UNFINISHED BUSINESS FROM PRIOR MEETINGS: 
 
Review List of Council Issues – Mgr. Bickhart reported the changes since the last meeting are in bold.  
Some issues are ongoing.  There was no discussion regarding the issues. 
 
COMMITTEE / COMMISSION / BOARD REPORTS: 
 
FINANCE & BUDGET COMMITTEE:  C/P Inch, Chairman 
 
Payment and Ratification of Bills 
 
Motion by C/P Inch to pay the bills.  Seconded by C/P Viker. 
 

AYES:  SEVEN (7) NAYS:  NONE  MOTION CARRIED 
 

Statewide Tax Recovery, Inc. - Exoneration Requests 
 
The following persons requested exemption for the per capita tax:  Vernon C. Carnahan, Jr. for 2004 and 
2005 due to being deceased; Raymond Shaheen for 2007 due to being deceased; Helen P. Leidinger for 
2007 due to being deceased; Peggy Diehl and Joe Diehl for 2007 due to the tax being paid in Middleburg; 
and Christopher Newcomer for 2007 due to being double billed, which was confirmed per documentation 
from Tax Collector Mike Bolig. 
 
Motion by C/P Herb for exoneration of these people.  Seconded by C/P Inch. 
 

AYES:  SEVEN (7) NAYS:  NONE  MOTION CARRIED 
 

Acknowledge receipt of $85,937.68 treatment charge credit from ESCRA – The 2008 budget 
estimate was $50,000 and C/P Inch noted that this additional credit is very good news. 
 
Report on 2008 Spring Cleanup – There were 73.22 tons collected, which was 8% more than 2007.  
The total 2008 contract cost was $9,868.22, and the amount budgeted for 2008 was $15,000. 
 
Adopt Resolution pertaining to opening two additional accounts with Omega Bank – These 
accounts will be Account # 0011318686 and Account # 0011318694. 
 
Motion by C/P Inch to open these two additional accounts with Omega Bank.  The motion went 
unacknowledged. 
 
Mgr. Bickhart noted that this resolution will designate that any checks or withdrawals would be signed by 
two of three individuals:  the president of Council, Mgr. Bickhart, and Treasurer Sheri Badman.  
Mgr. Bickhart noted that the resolution given to the Borough only cites one account number, but the 
resolution should pertain to both accounts. 
 



Meeting Date:  May 5, 2008  4 of 11 

Motion by C/P Mengel to open the two accounts at Omega Bank.  Seconded by C/P Hendricks. 
 

AYES:  SEVEN (7) NAYS:  NONE  MOTION CARRIED 
 
PUBLIC FACILITIES & SERVICES COMMITTEE:  C/P Hendricks, Chairman – No Report 
 
BOROUGH ADMINISTRATION / PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT:  C/P Mengel, Chairwoman 
 
C/P Mengel reported on the special Council work session with Snyder County Libraries’ Selinsgrove 
Community Library Building Committee, noting it was a very good work session with some open and frank 
discussion regarding the renovations that need to be done to the building and how the library will fit into 
that.  The Library Building Committee is going to go back to the Library Board to get a commitment from 
them to stay in the Borough building for a longer period of time than they had anticipated.  Pres. Handlan 
agreed that the meeting went very well and the understanding is that the library will remain in its present 
location as a branch library.  She stated she feels the Board will agree to participate in the study to 
renovate the building and to make the necessary repairs to house both the Borough and the library. 
 
COMMUNITY ACTIVITIES AND PUBLIC AFFAIRS:  C/P Viker, Chairman 
 
C/P Viker stated that his committee also attended the work session with the Library Building Committee, 
and he agrees that it was a productive meeting.  The partnership felt very positive and very encouraging.  
He stated it sounded like the Library Board is much more open to working with the Borough regarding 
interaction in the shared space.  C/P Viker stated it is time to speak with the leadership of Susquehanna 
University about the annual summit meeting.  President Lemons has suggested that this take place 
during the summer.  Pres. Handlan noted there has not been a Town/Gown meeting in quite some time, 
and usually it should be happening soon so that there can be discussion about the upcoming fall 
semester.  C/P Viker asked if the luncheon summit meeting suggested by President Lemons serves as a 
Town/Gown meeting or if it has traditionally been something different.  Pres. Handlan stated that it has 
been something different, and Mgr. Bickhart stated the two meetings involve different people.  
Pres. Handlan stated the Town/Gown meeting involves the Dean of Students and the Director of Public 
Safety as well as student representatives.  Issues of student behavior in the Borough, Borough residents, 
and other issues are discussed.  The annual summit is high level and involves discussion on how the 
Borough and the University can work in concert with each other for the benefit of both entities.  C/P Viker 
stated he will try to set up a Town/Gown meeting for next month.  Pres. Handlan stated that Mgr. Bickhart 
will be helpful in solidifying calendars. 
 
PERSONNEL MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE:  C/P Anderson, Chairwoman – No Report 
 
PUBLIC SAFETY COMMITTEE:  C/P Herb, Chairman – C/P Herb stated that after tonight’s Council 
meeting C/Ps Hendricks, Viker and himself will pick a date to have a meeting as soon as possible. 
 
PLANNING COMMISSION:  Earl Moyer, Chairman – Mgr. Bickhart reported that the he has supplied 
copies of memos so that Council can be kept apprised of what the Planning Commission is working on.  
There is nothing of any major significance.  The Planning Commission has been working with Shamokin 
Dam Borough, Penn Township and Monroe Township on the Multi-Municipal Parks, Recreation and Open 
Space Comprehensive Plan for the last year and a half.  The Planning Commission is asking Council to 
adopt, in conceptual form, the proposed skateboard park and a feasibility study of this, as well as sharing 
documentation with the school district and the university, and continuing the joint advisory committee 
which reports to the municipalities on an annual basis.  Council does not have a copy of this yet because 
it is being redrafted in a final form.  In the next couple weeks the final form should be received and 
Mgr. Bickhart will see that Council gets copies of this so that they can review it and consider the 
recommendations of the Planning Commission. 
 
ZONING HEARING BOARD:  __________, Chairman – Mgr. Bickhart reported that he has given 
Council a copy of a memo relating to the application of Cellco Partnership d/b/a Verizon Wireless to seek 
a reversal of Mgr. Bickhart’s determination that the cell tower is not consistent with the Zoning Ordinance 



Meeting Date:  May 5, 2008  5 of 11 

for location in the Borough’s industrial park.  Mgr. Bickhart has consulted with Solicitor Cravitz throughout 
this process and Cellco has asked for a hearing.  The first part of the hearing was held on May 1.  The 
issue was not resolved and was continued until the next meeting of the Zoning Hearing Board, which will 
be in early June.  C/P Herb asked if the Zoning Hearing Board is represented by counsel.  Solicitor 
Cravitz reported that they have separate counsel from the Borough Council.  Bob Slivinski is their 
counsel.  Mgr. Bickhart stated that Borough Council can be a party to the hearing by Council members 
going themselves or directing Solicitor Cravitz to go on Council’s behalf.  The Council member has to 
maintain a separate position, and in this case the Council member would be a Borough resident.  
C/P Viker asked what the next step of this process will be.  Mgr. Bickhart explained that the Zoning 
Hearing Board is in the midst of the current step in the process, which is that they have been given 
documentation and testimony has been presented asking them to determine that Mgr. Bickhart’s 
interpretation of the Zoning Ordinance is not correct and that Cellco does have authority to site the cell 
tower in the industrial zone.  Solicitor Cravitz stated that if Cellco is aggrieved by the Zoning Hearing 
Board’s determination their next step is to appeal it before the Snyder County Court of Common Pleas.  
The Borough can also appeal the Zoning Hearing Board’s determination.  Mgr. Bickhart stated that the 
proposal is to construct a 190’ tower.  Based upon a determination that was made by the Federal Aviation 
Administration, the tower is not required to be lighted so there would be no proposal to light the tower.  He 
stated that similarly, the steeple on the new Catholic church, which is considerably further up into the air 
space, is not required to be lighted.  He stated the FAA has made these determinations time and time 
again, but Mgr. Bickhart, with his interest in the airport, was more concerned with the church than with the 
cell tower.  Pres. Handlan remarked on how the airport cut down all the trees and they certainly were not 
190 feet tall.  Mgr. Bickhart stated that the owner of the property, Icon Realty, has entered into an 
agreement with Cellco for the siting of the tower.  This process actually started before they owned the 
property, but they are in favor of it. 
 
CIVIL SERVICE COMMISSION:  Dalton Savidge, Chairman – Mgr. Bickhart reported that the Civil 
Service Commission is ready to meet as soon as a list can be obtained of all persons that will be moving 
forward through meeting all the requirements and completing all the testing satisfactorily.  The process 
started out with six applicants.  One was lost due to failure to meet the minimum requirements for the 
application.  Another failed to appear for the written examination.  Both of them have been notified that 
their status is that they have been removed from the process.  There are four applicants that were tested, 
both the written examination and the physical fitness.  These four will be interviewed, and if they 
successfully pass everything they will go onto the final list.  The Civil Service Commission will review 
these and recommend three to Borough Council, hopefully by the June meeting. 
 
PARKS AND RECREATION BOARD:  Richard Norman, Chairman 
 
Dick Norman reported that the LifeTrail is being updated.  Evangelical Hospital has four different walking 
programs, one at the LifeTrail, one in Milton, one at the mall, and one in Lewisburg.  Each has a separate 
point system.  Evangelical is planning to combine the locations so points can be accumulated at any 
place and they will all count.  They are hoping this will encourage people to walk anywhere, and increase 
the use of the LifeTrail.  Last year one of the requests of the walkers was to have a restroom available.  
This was found to be impractical, but a port-a-potty was installed for the walkers.  The rest of the walking 
trail is in limbo as approval is being sought to use a lot that would allow for a complete circle. 
 
Dick reported that he received a call today from Mr. Harvey Edwards to confirm that a Selinsgrove high 
school organization, Youth in Philanthropy, is planning to donate some money to improve the ice skating 
rink and to make some updates.  Dick will travel to Bloomsburg next week to receive the check. 
 
Adopt Resolution pertaining to the submission of a Pennsylvania Department of Conservation and 
Natural Resources (PaDCNR) Grant Application for a potential Selinsgrove Community 
Skateboard Park Project – Dick Norman reported that plans for a skateboard park are moving forward.  
There is a verbal agreement for land donation by the ice skating rink.  The plan is for a skateboard park 
on Water Street with a paved parking lot between the skateboard park and the ice skating rink, to be used 
by both.  There would be a ramp to the creek so the fire truck could get down to the creek in an 
emergency and to be able to fill the ice skating rink, and also the ramp would serve as a boat landing to 



Meeting Date:  May 5, 2008  6 of 11 

get canoes into the creek for recreational purposes.  There would also be some picnic tables installed 
near the skate park.  Basic plans have been drawn up and a request submitted to DCNR asking for 
$111,000 to be matched by $111,000 from Borough entities, land donation, etc.  The $222,000 would pay 
for all facilities as noted.  This would be the only skate park on this side of the river and it would be 
available to anyone that would like to use it.  It would be fenced in, with open gates.  Skate parks with 
gates have more trouble when the gates are closed than when the gates are open.  The fence is more for 
delineation of the area and to keep pedestrians from wandering in by accident.  C/P Hendricks noted that 
a fence would catch debris from Penns Creek, and he asked if the fence is required.  Dick stated that he 
checked with the insurance and a fence is one of the requirements.  Dick stated he questioned this, as 
Sunbury does not have a fence and uses the same insurance agent.  He has not yet received an answer.  
C/P Herb asked how high the fence will be and Dick replied it is a 3’ fence, just to segregate the area.  
Dick reported that so far there have been commitments of almost $40,000 in cash.  Other monies would 
be raised through fundraising, with a request currently in for $20,000.  Dick stated that while this is not a 
popular idea with some people, the hope is that this will provide more recreational facilities for the youth 
and perhaps get some of them off the streets and sidewalks, park benches, etc. and into a facility that is 
maintained and safe for them to use.  C/P Viker asked if the land that is being donated is Borough 
property and he was informed that the land is being donated by Brian Farrell.  C/P Viker asked if there is 
an estimate of what the annual insurance cost would be for the property.  Dick replied that it is estimated 
around $800 or $900 annually.  The proposal is that this would be funded by S.K.A.T.E.R.S.  This 
insurance is in addition to regular playground insurance, as this does not cover a skate park.  C/P Inch 
asked if Dick is receiving considerable help from S.K.A.T.E.R.S. and Dick replied that they are not helping 
yet.  It has been discussed, and originally when the skate park was first discussed the skateboarders’ 
attitude was that the Borough provides parks and other things for free for anybody to use, so why not a 
skateboard park.  At that time, Dick told them that because of the problems that other skateboard parks 
have had, he felt that they should be willing to pitch in to help provide some of what they want and not just 
get it for nothing.  The question of lighting was brought up and Dick stated he had not planned on any.  
None of the parks have lighting, as they are to be used during daylight hours.  Mgr. Bickhart noted there 
is a streetlight nearby for safety.  He also reported that this project actually may be a bit ahead of itself.  
The objective now is to see if DCNR will grant the funding.  If not, the project can be modified an unlimited 
number of ways.  Dick was originally pursuing Degenstein funding to be matched with local monies, not 
using any grant monies, and doing the work in phases.  With the amount of money already given and 
pledged, including $27,500 from the Degenstein Foundation, it was felt that it would be good to apply for 
a DCNR grant to escalate the whole process.  Some of the estimates are on the high side.  The overall 
project is an excellent one for the Borough, and each element is beneficial on its own.  The main part is 
the paved parking lot that would be used by the skateboard park and the ice skating rink and would solve 
the parking problem that has always existed in that area.  To add the ramp to the creek for the fire 
company to get water is something that the Borough has been trying to figure out how to do for the last 
two years.  The picnic tables make it a nice place to enjoy the Penns Creek area.  The fire truck access 
could also be used as something that SPI had wanted in terms of additional accesses to Penns Creek for 
boating and fishing.  Then to top it all off, there is the proposed skateboard park that a number of people 
have asked about.  One of the justifications for putting the skateboard park in Selinsgrove and not in 
Penn Township is the density of the Borough’s population and the fact that the streets and sidewalks are 
interconnected.  A connecting piece of sidewalk is proposed, allowing skateboarders to skateboard all the 
way to the park and back again.  All these elements of the project should be of interest to DCNR, and the 
grant application may be successful.  If not, the project plan will be reevaluated.  The issue before Council 
tonight is that if they support the submission of the grant application, a resolution is needed to authorize 
the President of Council to sign the grant applications and documents as the project goes forward.  
Another issue to be addressed in the near future is the one of who owns and operates the facility.  This 
could be a Borough facility.  Other municipalities do own skate parks and pay the increased premium 
necessary because this would be excluded from any insurance the Borough currently has.  Another 
alternative is that this could be a facility like the swimming pool, which is on a piece of property in which 
the Borough has an interest in the equipment only for the purpose of getting the grant application, but it is 
owned and operated by a completely separate authority or organization, just as the pool is owned and 
operated by a completely separate entity.  Over the years there has been a lot of concern expressed 
about liability for a project like this.  Pres. Handlan asked whether S.K.A.T.E.R.S. has gotten their 501(c)3 
status yet and Dick replied they have not.  He does not know whether they have applied yet.  



Meeting Date:  May 5, 2008  7 of 11 

Pres. Handlan stated S.K.A.T.E.R.S. has been represented at the joint fundraising meetings.  She stated 
she has concerns about who would own the property.  Dick replied it is his thought that it would be the 
Borough’s property and the skate park would be operated similar to the swimming pool’s operations.  
Pres. Handlan stated another concern to be addressed is maintenance on the facility and who will be 
responsible for that.  She stated the Borough’s expectations of S.K.A.T.E.R.S. need to be put in writing.  
C/P Viker stated it would be surprising if the demand and the organization of citizens interested in this 
facility is comparable to the pool.  He feels that the pool’s base of support is significantly larger and he 
wondered if modeling the expectations based on the pool might not be optimistic.  It could be argued that 
this is a specialized playground and it would make more sense for it to be looked at as a Borough 
playground with all the expense that goes with that.  Dick explained that when he referred to the pool, he 
was not referring to a money-making project.  He was referring to the fact that the pool property is not 
owned by the Borough, but they lease the equipment.  This is what was being thought of for the skate 
park.  These are some ideas that are being put forward because of the DCNR grant, and a lot of details 
need to be ironed out yet.  Pres. Handlan asked if the $222,000 total cost includes the parking lot, and 
Dick replied that it does.  Mgr. Bickhart stated this is a cost estimate for all the things shown on the 
drawing, the sidewalk, the parking lot, the creek access, etc.  Dick stated that prices are going up about 
8% per year.  C/P Hendricks asked if Penn Township is doing anything like this and Dick replied they are 
not.  C/P Hendricks asked if Brian Farrell’s land donation goes down to the house.  Dick replied that he is 
meeting with Brian this week to talk about that.  The first lot right off Sassafras Street is 300 feet long.  
The next lot is only 30 feet to Bough Street.  Dick will ask Brian if he wants to include the 30’ piece of 
property.  Mgr. Bickhart stated that for ease of application, they noted the land as one parcel that is all the 
land between the unopened section of Sassafras Street and the unopened section of Bough.  He stated 
there is another piece of property that Brian owns up to the Savidges’ property.  He stated this is more 
property than the Borough has use for at the moment, and there is no reason the property could not be 
subdivided.  Dick noted that the third property has trees on it that would be a ready-made spot for picnic 
tables.  Pres. Handlan noted that there is a lot of work ahead on this, and in order to move things forward 
a motion had to be made. 
 
Motion by C/P Hendricks to adopt the resolution.  Seconded by C/P Mengel 
 

AYES:  SEVEN (7) NAYS:  NONE  MOTION CARRIED 
 
Dick reported that the Moose playground will be receiving some new equipment.  A senior girl is doing 
this as her senior project.  The equipment is in storage and will be installed some time in May.  It will 
include a small climbing wall and a tunnel.  The sand box will be updated and more chips will be put 
down.  Dick stated people think the playground is not used, but many young children use the playground.  
Agapeland Preschool had been asked to pick out equipment that would be suitable for their age group.  
The project should be finished sometime this summer. 
 
Pres. Handlan asked how the town at Kidsgrove is coming along.  Dick reported that he has expanded it 
by putting a second street in.  This is now sold out.  He named some that have sponsored buildings:  
Kleinbauer’s, the library, Cole’s Hardware, Kind Café, NAPA, Dr. Dotterer’s office, the yarn and sewing 
shop, Haines Music, the bank, the Mustard Seed, Carla’s Curls, the Kiwanis/pump house, and 
ReCreation.  There is no more land available.  He hopes to have it all completed this summer.  The first 
part is well underway, with trim being added.  A walk is being made through the whole town out of sponge 
rubber material, and an outdoor marimba and palm drums have been ordered for Haines Music. 
 
SHADE TREE COMMISSION:  Karl Maul, Chairman – No Report 
 
BOROUGH ADMINISTRATIVE REPORTS: 
 
MAYOR:  Pete Carroll 
 
Mayor Carroll reported that he had talked with Matt Cover about the Crime Watch program and explained 
that this is not something that Council will jump through hoops to implement just because Matt wrote a 



Meeting Date:  May 5, 2008  8 of 11 

letter.  He explained the concept of block captains to Matt, and stressed that it is not one person, but the 
whole community that has to be willing to help out with the program. 
 
Mayor Carroll has attended a number of ribbon cuttings, including the dedication of Hummels Wharf Fire 
Company’s new fire trucks on Tuesday, April 15, the grand opening of Foss Jewelers’ new location on 
Tuesday, April 22, and a dedication for the Beth El synagogue in Sunbury. 
 
Mayor Carroll reported he received a call from Sunbury Mayor Woodring, who wants to get local mayors 
together to discuss issues that affect everyone, including gang violence, Crime Watch programs, etc.  
The Sunbury police chief will be getting in touch with Chief Garlock to discuss things that are happening 
in Sunbury that may impact Selinsgrove. 
 
BOROUGH SOLICITOR:  Robert Cravitz, Esq. 
 
Consider adoption of Ordinance # 764, pertaining to changes to the Zoning Ordinance to permit 
the re-establishment of a discontinued non-conforming use by special exception – Solicitor Cravitz 
reported that this amends previous Ordinance 140-78C and 140-78D.  He read from the document, 
copies of which had been provided to Council. 
 
Motion by C/P Viker to adopt Ordinance 764.  Seconded by Herb. 
 

AYES:  SEVEN (7) NAYS:  NONE  MOTION CARRIED 
 
Consideration of proposed Agreement pertaining to Omega’s real property assessment – Solicitor 
Cravitz reported that the Snyder County Board of Assessment and the Selinsgrove Area School District 
and the Borough of Selinsgrove all agree that the case involving Omega Financial Corporation will be 
resolved.  There is a minor change in the agreement.  Under numbered Paragraph 3, the $1,155,000 
would be taken by the common ratio, which is 18 point something, which will really raise it up.  The 
number will actually be $207,250.  This will go to Judge Woelfel shortly and Omega will withdraw their 
appeal.  The County commissioners are looking at reassessment. 
 
Motion by C/P Mengel to authorize Pres. Handlan and Mgr. Bickhart to sign the Agreement.  Seconded 
by C/P Herb. 
 

AYES:  SEVEN (7) NAYS:  NONE  MOTION CARRIED 
 
Mgr. Bickhart noted that Borough of Freeburg will be replaced by Borough of Selinsgrove.  Solicitor 
Cravitz stated this is a draft and will be cleaned up for signatures. 
 
BOROUGH ENGINEER:  J. A. Coukart & Associates 
 
Update on pending projects – Mgr. Bickhart reported projects are moving along.  The CDBG project will 
be put out for bid in the fall.  This will allow more time to work out any of the proposed changes to Front 
Street.  SU West Village has submitted the information the engineer needed and he is recommending 
approval of the plan.  Solicitor Cravitz asked if they have received their sewer permit and Mgr. Bickhart 
replied that they have received certification as a facility of need so that supersedes the moratorium on 
sewer permits.  He noted the elementary project is under review. 
 
C/P Mengel stated she has received some questions as to why the alleyway beside Cole’s Hardware, 
between Orange Street and Cole’s Hardware, is not ever improved.  It is full of ruts.  The alley is between 
Orange and High Streets and runs in the same direction, north and south.  Mgr. Bickhart stated it is a 
portion of Liberty Alley that, because of its very limited use, is acknowledged to be a public alley but never 
improved.  Mgr. Bickhart stated the alley is not used so it might be best for the Borough to vacate its 
interest in it and give it back to the property owners.  C/P Mengel stated some people do cut through 
there from the Cole’s parking lot.  It was noted that it is not paved and sometimes it is blocked by Cole’s, 
who put merchandise out there.  Mgr. Bickhart stated this has been discussed several times in the office, 



Meeting Date:  May 5, 2008  9 of 11 

and he has done enough research to satisfy himself that it is a Borough alley.  It is open, which is the 
other criterion for an alley to belong to the Borough.  Its improvements are sub par by anyone’s 
standards.  C/P Herb asked what the length of it is, and if there is any way to determine what it would cost 
to put a chipped surface on it.  Mgr. Bickhart replied it is about 200 feet in length, and it needs to have a 
base put down before anything else could be done.  This would probably cost around $10,000.  C/P Viker 
asked if this inquiry to C/P Mengel is a curiosity inquiry or an inquiry of significant concern.  C/P Mengel 
replied that it was an inquiry of significant concern.  The person who inquired uses the alley but not daily.  
Pres. Handlan asked that this be added to the list to be looked at.  Mgr. Bickhart asked that the Public 
Safety Committee look into this, noting that he has some concerns about where it outlets in terms of 
whether it makes sense to encourage people to come out there.  If the Borough improves the alley they 
will increase the number of people who come out there. 

 
BOROUGH TREASURER:  Sharon Badman 
 
Review Treasurer’s Report for April 2008 -   Pres. Handlan asked if there were any questions on the 
Treasurer’s report.  Hearing none, she stated that it is on file for audit. 
 
BOROUGH MANAGER / SECRETARY / ZONING OFFICER:  Mgr. Bickhart 
 
Non-Police Complaint Update – Mgr. Bickhart stated he has received a continuing series of complaints 
lodged by the Bowen Agency as the realtor trying to sell the adjacent property to 538 Ninth Street.  The 
Borough had gotten involved in a prior complaint and the property owner had taken steps to remove the 
tenant, and when the tenant left so did a lot of the complaints.  This particular complaint of peeling paint 
and untreated plywood is being addressed by the property owners, who have the building under 
construction and plan to eventually side the building, covering up the peeling paint and the untreated 
plywood.  However, they are under no particular time schedule to do this.  This is an issue that probably 
gets a little more deeply into the Borough’s Property Maintenance Code.  It is not as gross of a violation 
as the things the Borough has been pursuing, but under the Property Maintenance Code it is something 
that the owners could be cited for.  Mgr. Bickhart stated that he would accept the property owners’ 
statement that the property is under construction and give them some time to complete this construction.  
This is an example of how an adjoining property can adversely affect the value of real estate.  The 
Borough has no obligation regarding the economics of this, but it does have an obligation to enforce the 
Property Maintenance Code. 
 
Update of PROPERTY TRANSFERS and BUILDING PERMITS ISSUED, Janet Powers, Deputy 
Zoning and Permit Officer – Information only.  Mgr. Bickhart noted that Edward Jones has applied to 
move into where Larson Design Group is moving out, and Essence of Life, a beauty salon, has proposed 
to move into the back area of 5 South Market Street where another beauty shop moved out of to move 
across the street from the Borough office.  The Borough office had not been getting real estate transfer 
information for a while, but now the information is coming in again. 
 
April 2008 Degenstein Foundation Grants – Mgr. Bickhart reported the Degenstein Foundation has 
pledged $27,500 for the Skateboard Park Project, conditioned on the start of construction, and $20,000 
toward the Selinsgrove Community Swimming Pool Project for the architect design and bidding.  These 
pledges are documented in writing. 
 
Notification received that the Final Report was submitted to DEP on former AMP Inc. property – 
Mgr. Bickhart reported that when the county bought the AMP building there was an environmental study 
done indicating there were some issues with the property.  Over the years AMP had stored a number of 
hazardous chemicals, some of which had leached into the ground.  As a condition of the sale, AMP 
agreed to retain the services of an environmental consulting firm who would go about studying and 
documenting and guiding AMP to the correction of any contamination issues that DEP saw fit to correct.  
This has been in the works for about seven years, and a final report has been completed and accepted by 
DEP concerning the property.  They have given it an acceptable clearance.  In the one area that had 
contaminated soil there was a proposal to put that area into an easement, which led to a corrective deed 
that Council has already signed.  This is on the county’s part of the property.  The document says the 



Meeting Date:  May 5, 2008  10 of 11 

contamination will be left there and everything will be fine.  There were quite a series of tests of ground 
water and soil samples performed.  A CD format of the report is available in the Borough office. 
 
TOP TEN Reasons to Be a Local Elected Official in 2008 – Information only 
 
Reminder about PSAB Annual Conference, June 8-11, 2008 – Mgr. Bickhart asked anyone who is 
interested in attending this conference to contact him. 
 
SELINSGROVE MUNICIPAL AUTHORITY – Donald Bottiger, Chairman – No Report 
 
EASTERN SNYDER COUNTY REGIONAL AUTHORITY – Bob Dagle and George Kinney, Chairmen 
 
Notice concerning a prohibition of “new connections” to the Wastewater Treatment Plant, or the 
“issuance of new sewer permits” – Mgr. Bickhart reported that no more connections may be made to 
any part of the sanitary sewer system of ESCRA until further notice.  He stated the university and the 
school have both asked for and have both received a determination that they are facilities of need, which 
means that in this overloaded condition they can continue to do what they wish to do.  C/P Herb asked if 
they have to purchase credits and Mgr. Bickhart replied that this is a completely separate issue from that.  
C/P Herb stated that he understands that there will be no new permits issued to build a home anywhere 
in the sewered portions of Eastern Snyder County.  C/P Mengel asked how long this is anticipated to last.  
Mgr. Bickhart replied that the timeframe that is being discussed is 90 to 120 days, but very rarely does it 
go that fast.  He expects it to be more like six months to a year.  He stated that once a corrective action 
plan is accepted it will only release a limited number of corrections.  It will not open the doors to 
everything.  There will be annual limitations of what can connect and then the four municipalities are 
going to have to argue over who can connect.  He stated the Borough has been through learning that the 
sewage treatment plant is overloaded with phosphorus and nitrogen, to which the Authority immediately 
responded and came up with the treating plan that says you can still connect but for every pound of 
phosphorus or nitrogen that the treatment plant cannot treat the connecting person would have to buy a 
credit from someone who already removed that from the Chesapeake Bay to make it come out even.  
Then this issue comes along with an organic overload.  There are five major parameters of importance to 
a treatment plant:  phosphorus, nitrogen, organics or BOD, flow, and suspended solids.  The organics 
have just become a problem and ESCRA is getting pretty close on flow.  This is an era where these kinds 
of problems will occur and reoccur.  Fortunately the Borough is pretty much fully developed so there is 
relatively little impact on the Borough.  The university and the school district are facilities of need, which is 
even less burdensome for the Borough because while the treatment plant is overloaded their projects will 
be allowed to continue.  C/P Viker asked if there are any projects in the Borough that are half built and if 
so, do they get to continue.  Mgr. Bickhart stated there is one new house under construction on a 
previously vacant lot.  They had done the planning and have the permits and they will be permitted to 
connect.  C/P Viker asked about a situation where a house would be town down and another built in its 
place.  C/P Inch stated that if a house that had a hookup is torn down and a new house built they would 
be okay.  Mgr. Bickhart stated that is correct; the prohibition only applies to new connections.  This would 
affect potential development in the industrial park, for instance if an industry wanted to come into Phillips 
Industries.  The scenario there would be if someone like National Beef wanted to come in, because they 
have a huge processing waste requirement, they would not be allowed because that plant had no 
processing waste before.  They only had the domestic water use of the employees so anything beyond 
that historic limit for the Phillips Industries plant would be prohibited.  The current proposals for the use of 
that facility would not have a problem because there will only be employees and no industrial wastewater.  
Pres. Handlan stated that in the article it stated there would be research and attempts to track the source.  
She asked if it would be that difficult to find out where the phosphorus and nitrogen are coming from.  
Solicitor Cravitz stated that is not the problem for this prohibition.  Mgr. Bickhart stated that ESCRA is 
currently investigating within the system certain points where they believe that the organic loadings are 
beyond their limitations, and they are looking at sources with exceptionally high organic waste to see 
what can be done about those sources.  Solicitor Cravitz stated several of his clients who are developers 
have looked into this and they have been assured by the state legislators that this will be resolved within 
45 to 60 days.  They have been promised this by DEP through Merle Phillips’ office and also through 
Russ Fairchild’s office.  C/P Herb asked if this is a legislative resolution where the requirements will 



Meeting Date:  May 5, 2008  11 of 11 

simply be changed.  Solicitor Cravitz stated no, that Eastern Snyder County can put together a 
remediation plan fairly quickly and his clients are assured when that occurs they will begin loosening up 
on some of the permits.  C/P Hendricks asked if a sewer plant at 100% with additional needs that bring it 
to 110% will have to increase the capacity of the sewer plant to that level before additional development 
can go in, and whether this applies even to facilities of need.  Mgr. Bickhart replied that for facilities of 
need DEP will permit them to overload an already overloaded sewage treatment facility without limitation.  
He stated that eventually there could be a complete ban imposed but for right now, in the procedure that 
ESCRA is in, the facilities of need can continue to overload the overloaded treatment system.  
C/P Hendricks asked if the plant would have to address the facilities of need before anything else.  
Mgr. Bickhart replied that the plan that will be documented will be some method to bring the treatment 
plant into compliance with the organic loading limitations as far as effluents, and this might be a four or 
five-year plan.  As ESCRA moves forward on this, DEP will allow certain numbers of connections to 
overload even more an overloaded treatment plant in an agreed upon schedule.  There is some 
sensitivity and flexibility in this.  It is not an absolute ban; the situation has not gotten to that severe of a 
problem.  These issues and effluent limitations are averages for a month out of the year, and it may only 
be one month that the facility is actually in excess of these things.  C/P Mengel asked how ESCRA has 
gotten to this point after all the money that was just put into the plant.  Mgr. Bickhart stated that this 
current organic overload came about in part the same way that the phosphorus and nitrogen overload 
came about in that the Chesapeake Bay Commission said that the plant can discharge less than what 
they were permitted to discharge last year.  The overload occurred because the amount of discharge into 
the Susquehanna River was lowered below what the treatment plant had planned for.  The nitrogen issue 
altered the way the calculations were done inside the treatment plant.  In essence, it’s as if the plant was 
designed for 2.8 million gallons per day and they decide to change this to only 2 million gallons per day, 
which makes the treatment process do better on paper.  They re-rated the facility.  They can take some of 
the facility that was just built to remove nitrogen and make them remove more organics, but then they 
would remove less nitrogen and then the counteraction would be that more people would have to buy 
nitrogen credits.  There are a lot of things the treatment plant can do about this.  It is not the population 
that did something to cause this problem.  It is more a regulation issue and the way the plant was being 
evaluated.  ESCRA knew they were getting close to the organic loading, just as they know they are 
getting close to the flow overloading.  A lot of this had to do with the change in regulations.  C/P Inch 
asked if there was any additional capacity built in for growth at the treatment plant based on a certain 
amount of population growth.  Mgr. Bickhart stated that when the last upgrading of the treatment plant 
was done there was no change in capacity.  In fact, they actually reduced the amount of gallons that the 
treatment plant could handle.  When it was originally built 25 years ago it had way more capacity than it 
needed and there have been no issues for 25 years.  There were no hydraulic, organic, phosphorus or 
nitrogen overloads in 25 years in this area.  Eventually that would have happened because there is only a 
finite capacity.  ESCRA was planning on having more years to study and design and upgrade the 
treatment facility.  Solicitor Cravitz stated that he spoke with John Abromitis, who assured him that there 
are no violations and nothing is getting out into the river that the plant does not have permits for.  He 
stated people think the overload means we are in violation and the Susquehanna River is getting dirtier 
because of the sewer plant.  This is not the case, but rather the parameters for the plant have been 
changed and that is what has thrown it into a skew.  There are no violations in the discharge. 
 
NORTH-EASTERN SNYDER COUNTY JOINT AUTHORITY – Bill Hetherington and John C. Bickhart 
– No Report 
 
NEW BUSINESS:  None 
 
ADJOURNMENT: 
 
Meeting adjourned at 9:03 p.m. 
 
Attachments: None 
 


